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5. Classification

ownership of Property (Check as many boxes as apply)
_X private
publlc-local
publlc—state
public-Federal
Category of Property (Check only one box)
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district
site
structure
object

Number of Resources within Property

Contributing Noncontributing
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— 0 __0__ objects
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Register __ 0
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a multlple property listing.) N/
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Historic Functions (Enter categories from instructions)
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Architectural Classification (Enter categories from instructions)
EARLY REPUBLIC: Federal
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Materials (Enter categories from instructions)
foundation __ BRICK
walls BRICK

WOQD: weatherboard
roof METAL: tin
other

Narrative Description (Describe the historic and current condition of the property
on one or more continuation sheets.)
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Acreage of Property _ 2.5 acres_
UTM References (Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet)
Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing
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5 17 648800 4198400

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property on a
continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation
sheet.)
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Photographs
Representative black and white photographs of the property.
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SUMMARY DESCRIPTION

Located on the south side of State Route 724 in northwestern Rockbridge County,
Virginia, one mile east of the Brownsburg Historic District, Mulberry Grove is a farmhouse
representing four different building periods from the late eighteenth to the mid-nineteenth
centuries. It is a two-story brick and frame Federal-style dwelling with two chimneys at the
northeast end and one brick chimney near the southwest end. The original frame-over-brick-
nogging section, a small, simple, one-room-down and one-room-up Virginia frontier house built
about 1790, is presently in the center of the structure. A frame stair hall was added about 1828.
Common-bond brick wings were added at each end about 1840, and the house was spanned by
a long porch. The original structure with its three additions form a vernacular Federal-style
house, The interior wood-work is both early- and late-Federal. Notable outbuildings include
a log meat house and a double-pen log barn, both built from the early to mid-nineteenth century.

ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION

Mulberry Grove is a two-story brick and weatherboard vernacular Federal-style dwelling
76’ long and 34’ deep, with brick chimneys at the northeast end and near the southwest end.
Facing to the northwest, it has been used as a farmhouse since its original construction in about
1790 and represents at least four different building periods from the late eighteenth century to
about 1850, with twentieth-century changes made in 1937, 1965, and 1984. The foundation is
brick. The two wings at each end of the house are common-bond brickwork, while the center
section, which includes the original house and the first addition, is framed win weather-board.
This center section includes a large porch with chamfered wooden posts and railings. There are
two first-floor windows and two doors opening onto the porch, with three windows on the
second floor. The northeast wing has two windows on the first floor and two dormer windows
on the second. The southwest wing is a large kitchen with a loft, with doors opening onto both
the front and the back porches, and one window on each floor at the southwest end.

The original section of the house, which lies near the center of the present structure, is
clad in weatherboard over post, beam, and brick-nogging construction. Its foundation, not
presently visible, is stone with log joists supporting the first floor. It had no porches but
probably a stoop by which to enter the front door. It had one room downstairs and one upstairs,
with a ladder-type stairway to the second floor. Both the downstairs and the upstairs rooms have
been divided into two rooms, partitions having been added around 1900. The four windows on
the first floor have nine-over-six double-hung sash, with six-over-six sash in the four windows
on the second floor. Much of the glass is older, as revealed by its imperfect textures. The
flooring is original heart pine. The roof over this section is standing-seam metal with pegged
mortise-and-tenon rafters. The roof originaily had wooden shingles.' There is a common-bond
brick chimney between this original structure and the kitchen that was added later, with a
fireplace on each side. The chair rail and window trim both downstairs and upstairs are early-
Federal-style and original to this section of the house. The upstairs mantel is also early-Federal-
style; the downstairs mantel is late-Federal-style.

'Romer H. McClung (1893-1986), conversations with Mary 8. Lipscomb. 1946. Mr. McClung stated that this house was always known
as the first house in the area with a tin roof after wood shingles.
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The first addition, built in the 1820s, was a frame two-story stair hail that extended 10’
to the northeast of the original house. It later provided access to a large 1840s addition. This
stair hall has a brick foundation and late-Federal-style woodwork. The black oak flooring runs
perpendicular to the flooring of the original house. The treads of the steps are heart pine, the
risers 9 1/2" high, and the flooring of both the landing and the upstairs hallway is poplar. The
banister is plain walnut with very piain balusters. The roof over this section is also standing-
seam metal with pegged mortise-and-tenon rafters.

At about the same period (late 1820s), a large brick kitchen with a loft and cooking
fireplace was added to the southwest end of the original house. This kitchen has no entrance
to the main part of the house, but has doors that lead onto both the contemporary front and back
porches. These large mortise-and-tenon-assembled porches have heavy walnut chamfered posts
and railings.

In the 1840s a double-pile brick section was added to the northeast of the stair hall. This
addition has common-bond brickwork featuring molded brick cornice with an interior braced,
standing-seam metal roof.

There are two common-bond brick chimneys at the northeast end of the house and two
major rooms downstairs, each with a fireplace. One room was originally divided by a partition,
which was removed about 1890. There are two distinct floorings in this room: the larger
section is chestnut and the smaller 2 more inferior heart pine. The small room was used
originally as a pantry for the kitchen that was at the opposite end of the house.? The larger
section was a bedroom with an early-Federal-style mantel that was probably moved from the
original section of the house.

The other downstairs room of this 1840s section is clearly the major room of the house,
with a large, very ornate late-Federal mantel measuring 103" x 70" with scrolled pilasters and
acanthus leaves. The double-hung six-over-six sash windows include large 10" x 16" panes.
Many of the old 10" x 8" "half panes" remain in this section. The chair rail and baseboard are
executed in the late-Federal Style. The fireplace has an iron fireback which, although not
signed, is similar to others in Rockbridge County cast before 1797 by Halbert and Moses
McCluer of this county. This fireback was either moved from the original section of the house
or taken from some other home for this addition.?

The second floor of this section originally had one large room with one window at the
end and closets in the front and back eaves. -In 1937 this additions was converted from one large
room into two small rooms, closets, and a bathroom. The northeast window was closed and two
smaller windows were added to this end between the two chimneys. Four dormers, two at the
front and two at the back, were added.

21da Willson Fuliz {(1855-1949), conversations with Mary 8. Lipscomb in the 1940s. Mrs. Fuliz was a granddaughter of Samuel Willson
and lived at Mulberry Grove until she married.

*Royster Lyle, Jr.. Lexington, Virginia, interview with Mary S. Lipscomb, 20 January 1994,
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The basement is reached by a stairway from the outside that was enclosed in 1984,
There is only one large room under the original structure, with a smaller crawl space under the
stair hall, and a large dirt basement under the 1840s addition. The original kitchen has no
basement. The area under the present kitchen (originally a porch) and the large room under the
original section have concrete floors and are presently used for storage, the furnace, and the
water heater.

Between 1890 and 1900 the public road was relocated and the orientation of the house
was changed from southeast to northwest. A part of the long porch at the rear of the house was
enclosed at about that time and converted into a kitchen. In the 1960s a one-story frame
addition was built along the rear of the enclosed porch for a bathroom and laundry room. In
1984 this addition was enlarged to enclose the entrance to the basement area from the outside.

Notable outbuildings include a log meat house to the southwest of the house. It has V-
notched logs on a rubble foundation, a common roof rafter system, and a standing-seam metal
roof. It may date to the first half of the nineteenth century.

Southeast of the house is a double-pen log barn. The pens’ construction consists of V-
notched logs and half-lapped and pegged roof members. This barn may aiso date to the first half
of the nineteenth century. There are twentieth-century additions almost entirely surrounding the
original structure.

Mulberry Grove has been a major farmhouse in this area since its construction. The
house and its two contributing dependencies and three noncontributing dependencies have been
the central part of farming enterprises for two centuries. The farmhouse is in exceilent
condition. Clearly visible from State Route 724, it sits back about 150’ from the road, is
surrounded by old and young trees, and remains the central farmhouse of a 600-acre working
farm.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Mulberry Grove’s architectural significance lies in the fact that it represents four distinct
building periods which show various styles of American architecture between 1790 and 1850 in
the farming area of northwestern Rockbridge County. In the late eighteenth century Joseph
Skeen probably built this small, simple, functional frame house suitable for his family of early
settlers in the Valley.' In 1824 Samuel Willson, a more affluent farmer, purchased the property
and began to make more elaborate late-Federal-style additions to the oniginal house. Each of
these three additions embodied the architectural styles of the period as well as the interests and
needs of the Willson family from 1827 into the 1840s. The architecture also reflected the
culture of the surrounding farming area settled largely by Scotch-Irish slave-holding
Presbyterians. Later twentieth-century changes are sympathetic to the original architectural form
and details. The house, with its two contributing dependencies, continues to be an important
part of the farming community in this area.

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Although the central section of the house, built in the late eighteenth century, is quite
small, one-room-down and one-room-up, with few decorative elements, it was very carefully and
sturdily constructed, thus lasting these two hundred years. The brick-nogging construction,
placed between posts and beams, used for insulation and fire prevention and covered with
weatherboarding, is quite significant to its architecture as well as its survival. In his will,
probategi 21 May 1814, Joseph Skeen called it a "mantion" and left it to his sons, John and
Robert.

Samuel Willson purchased the farm and house from John Skeen in 1824 and began to
make additions in the late 1820s. He first added a two-story stair hall, frame with a brick
foundation. The introduction of late-Federal-style woodwork with its new front and back doors
and floorboards running perpendicular to the original house indicate the separate use of this
addition. Willson aiso added major porches to both front and back, along the entire length of
the house. They were constructed of stylish chamfered posts and railings made of mortised and
tenoned heavy walnut. The new hallway opened onto these porches and afforded an important
place to greet guests away from the one downstairs room, where eating and sleeping took place
and children were at play. Thishallway also provided a place for a stairway, so that there was
no longer any need for the ladder-type stairway of the original house.

Around this same time Willson also added a two-story common-bond brick kitchen to the
southwest end of the original house and extended the porches along the front and back of this
addition. This very functional addition, with its large cooking fireplace and servants’ quarters
on the second floor, move the cooking and housekeeping closer to the family. But with no
entrance to the main part of the house, it clearly reflected the culture based on slavery: the

iR()c:kbridge County, Virginia, Tax Records, 1787, 1789, 1797.

“Rockbridge County Will Book No. 4, page 44, May 21, 1814, Joseph Skeen to Robert and John Skeen.
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servants still needed to go outdoors to bring things to the main house, thus keeping them
separated from the family.

Most significant to the architectural importance of Mulberry Grove is the 1840s addition
of a two-story double-pile common-bond brick section with a brick foundation. A molded-brick
cornice forming the cyma recta, split by a stretcher row, is a dominant element of this late-
Federal Style. It suggests the prosperity of the owner because of the added expense and
difficulty of this type of construction. This addition contained two large rooms downstairs and
one large bedroom upstairs with closets under the eaves.

The woodwork in the major living room of the fourth addition includes a very ornate
mantel measuring 103" x 70" with scrolled pilasters and acanthus leaves. The fireplace in this
room has an unusual fireback similar to others cast before 1797 by Halbert and Moses McCluer
of Rockbridge County. It shows an angel with swept-back hair blowing a trumpet toward a
cloud encircling thirteen stars representing the original thirteen colonies. Above the angel’s head
are the words "Peace and Unity to.” The words lead to the thirteen stars, indicating peace and
unity to the new nation. This fireback may have been one of the things Willson moved from
his original house or it may have been taken from some older house of the area.

The other downstairs room in this addition was at one time divided by a partition which
formed a small room that opened into the stair hall. This room was used as a pantry and a
bedroom for the lady of the house. Servants crossed the back porch and were given supplies
by the lady of the house from the pantry that she always kept locked.’

The agricultural revolution of the nineteenth century brought many changes to the
property. Willson tried his hand at raising the Chinese mulberry tree, growing silkworms, and
attempting to produce silk. He was not prosperous in this venture, but succeeded in all other
farming enterprises. Mulberry Grove saw Union General David Hunter’s troops camp along its
creek bank on their way to Lexington to burn Virginia Military Institute. All three of the
Willson sons supported the South in the Civil War, and Mulberry Grove never quite recovered
from the economic effects of that war.’

In 1880 James E. A. Gibbs of Raphine, Virginia, the inventor of the sewing machine,
purchased the property and gave it to his daughter, Ellabell Gibbs Moore.® During Mrs.
Moore’s years of ownership, bétween 1880 and 1925, the public toad was relocated and the
orientation of the house was changed from southeast to northwest. The Moores made some
changes, adding partitions and converting the then back porch into a kitchen about 1900. Most

31da Willson Fultz (1855-1949), conversations in the 1940s with Mary 8. Lipscomb. Mrs. Fuliz was a granddaughter of Samuel Willson
and lived at Mulberry Grove until she married.

4Advertisement in the Lgxington Gazette, Lexington, Virginia, August 11, 1837: "MULBERRIES FOR SILKWORMS. 50,000 Plants of
the Chinese mulberry of Morus multicaulis for sale . . . .”

S7ames G. Alexander, Fairfield. Virginia, grandson of Ida Willson Fultz, interviews by Mary S. Lipscomb, January 15, 1994,

SRockbridge County Deed Book UU, page 308. June 26, 1880, James E. A. Gihbs to daughter Ellabell Gibbs Moore.
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of these changes reflected the disappearance of servants, and no changes were made to the
structure of the house.

In 1926 M. McClung Sterrett, a great-grandson of Samuel Willson, purchased the
property and in 1937 added dormer windows to the northeast end of the house, both back and
front. This permitted the division of the second-floor room into two bedrooms and a bathroom.
Other one-story additions for a bathroom and laundry room were made in 1965 and 1984 at the
rear of the house, but changed very little the nineteenth-century Federal style of the house.

The two log structures, a meat house and a barn, have probably stood since the early nineteenth
century. The barn sheltered cows, horses, sheep, grain, and hay, and is the one from which
grain was threshed from 1890 to 1940. It continues to play an important role in the present
beef-cattle farming operation. The log meat house was used for meat curing and storage, a most
important feature of nineteenth- and early-twentieth-century rural life.

One of the most significant changes in rural life in the Valley of Virginia was the coming of
electricity in 1939. From central heating and refrigeration to the abundance of water pumped
into both the house and the barns, electricity was of basic importance. In 1944 the farming
enterprise changed from general agriculture to a major dairy farm as a result of the use of
electricity, and remained so until 1984.

Built by forward-looking people and housing four families of innovative farmers, Mulberry
Grove has been architecturally significant for nearly two centuries. These families have
contributed to the culture, industry, and history of this rural community. They were important
in the early setttement of the area, the agricultural revolutions of both the nineteenth and the
twentieth centuries, the Civil War, Reconstruction, and the Great Depression. Mulberry Grove
represents a true history of rural western Virginia, reflecting the styles of the periods and the
affluence, interests, and needs of the owners in this still-rural area.
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GEOGRAPHICAL DATA
VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

The boundary of the nominated property is delineated by the polygon whose vertices are marked by the following
UTM reference points: :

1 17 648820 4198500 2 17 648920 4198500
3 17 649010 4198440 4 17 648930 4198350
5 17 648800 4198400

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

The boundary of the 2.5 acre includes the main dwelling, the log meat house, and the log barn historically
associated with the property. The remaining area of the farm property has not been included as the agricuitural
buildings do not relate to the architectural significance of the historic core of the property.
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